
 

 
 

SACRE 
 

3.45 pm MONDAY, 7TH DECEMBER, 2020 
 

REMOTE MEETING - MICROSOFT TEAMS 
 

 
Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded for training purposes.   

 

 
 

This Agenda has been prepared by the  
Democratic Services Department. Any member of the public requiring information should 

contact the department on (01685 725284) or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 
on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. Election of Chair and Vice Chair   

2. Apologies for absence   

3. Declaration of Interests   

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
 
 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

4. Membership Updates  5 - 6 

5. Minutes of Previous Meeting held on 10th March 
2020  /  Matters Arising  

7 - 10 

6. Annual Report 2019/20 (attached)  11 - 38 

7. Update on plans for examinations in 2021 
(Minister's decision attached)  

39 - 40 

8. WASACRE Business:   

8.a  WASACRE personnel update (attached) 41 - 42 

8.b  Curriculum Updates (attached) 43 - 44 

8.c  WASACRE advice to Schools on Collective 
Worship (attached) 

45 - 48 

9. Minutes from WASACRE Autumn Meeting and 
AGM (attached)  

49 - 66 

10. Open discussion:   Ideas for supporting RE and 
Collective Worship in the 'new format'  

 

11. Dates and venues for future meetings   

12. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  
COMPOSITION: Councillors   E Galsworthy (Chair)  
                      Rev. M Prevett (Vice-Chair) 
 

 

Councillors:  D Hughes, M Jones and I Thomas 
 

Professional Associations: 
S Bernard Henderson, L McCarthy, J Jones, K Thomas 
and L Draper 
 

Faith Communities: 
D O'Keefe, A Pitt, A Star and J Brill, 
 

A Lewis and A Hill 
  

together with appropriate officers 
  

 
If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 

democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Updated 29.09.2020 
 

MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

  
 MEMBERSHIP UPDATE 2019/20 
 
 

Local authority 
 

Councillor Ernie Galsworthy Local Authority 
Councillor David Hughes Local Authority 
Councillor Ian Thomas Local Authority 
Councillor Michelle Jones  Local Authority  

 
 
Teacher associations 
 

Vacancy RE Teachers’ Association  
 
 

Sian Bernard-Henderson/  
Lee-anne McCarthy 

National Union of Teachers 
Cyfarthfa High School 
 

Vacancy UCAC 
 
Vacancy 

 
Secondary Heads Association 

 
Vacancy 
Justine Jones 

 
NAS/UWT 
NAS/UWT 

 
Katy Thomas  

 
Association of College Managers 

 
Vacancy  

 
NAHT  

 
Lucy Draper 

 
Association of Teachers and Lecturers 
Pen-y-Dre High School 

 

Religious denominations 
 

Deacon David O’Keefe  Roman Catholic Church 
Andy Pitt Evangelical Church 
Ann Starr Presbyterian Church/United Reform 

Church (URC) 
Father Mark Prevett Church in Wales 
Janine Brill  Salvation Army 
  
LA Officers 
 

Anthony Lewis     MTCBC Education Representative 
Karen Reddy     Clerk to SACRE 
Angela Hill                           Independent RE Consultant 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING 
 

SACRE MEETING 
 

TUESDAY, 10TH MARCH, 2020 
 
 
PRESENT:  
 

Councillors:    E Galsworthy (Chair)                        
 

 Councillors:     M Jones and I Thomas 
  
 Professional Associations: 

S Bernard Henderson and J Jones 
 
Faith Communities: 
A Star 

  
Officers: 
S Bowen (Inclusion and Wellbeing Manager) 
A Hill (Consultant for Merthyr SACRE) 
 

 M Morgan (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

ITEM 
NO. 

AGENDA MATTER DECISION 

791   Apologies for absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor D 
Hughes, D O’Keefe, Rev M Prevett and A Pitt.  

792   Declaration of Interests No Declarations of Interest were made. 

793   Minutes of previous 
meeting held on 26th 
November 2019 

Resolved that: 
 
The Minutes of the SCARE Meeting held 26 November 
2019 be accepted as a correct record. 

794   Matters Arising There were no Matters Arising. 

795   Constitution/Membersh
ip Update 

Angela Hill reminded the Committee of the Central South 
Consortium advert and the newsletter outlining what is 
SACRE and the invitation to apply to be on a SACRE.  
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



 
 
 
 
   

Any responses to this advert would then be brought to the 
SACRE Committee to consider if the Committee wished to 
accept the application.  

796   WASACRE Updates: The Committee received the Minutes of the WASACRE 
Meeting held 21 November 2019. 
 
Angela Hill referred the Committee to the WASACRE 
Spring Meeting that was being held on 17 March 2020 at 
the Civic Centre, Merthyr Tydfil and advised that SACRE 
Members were invited to attend this Meeting. 
 
It was also agreed that the agenda for this Meeting would 
be circulated to the SACRE Members.  
 
S Bernard Henderson entered the Meeting at 3.52 pm. 

797   Curriculum updates: Press Release – Education Minister Kirsty Williams - 
Children in Wales will have universal access to the full 
curriculum   
 
The Chair referred to the Press Release from the Education 
Minister and stated that he felt there was need for more 
than careful and sensitive implementation. 
 
Angela Hill advised that the comments of the SACRE could 
be raised at the WASACRE Meeting and to also seek 
further clarification on how the Minister intended to 
implement changes and what training would be available to 
Teachers.   
 
Committee Members then shared their views on the 
removal of the right of parents to withdraw their children 
from Religious Education lessons.  
 
The Committee also indicated their support to the change of 
name of Religious Education to Religion, Values and Ethics. 
 
Draft Framework for Religious Education 
 
Angela Hill referred the Committee to the Welsh 
Government Curriculum for Wales Guidance Document and 
advised that more information would be available after the 
WASACRE Meeting.  She also advised that it may be 
necessary to convene a Special SACRE Meeting to discuss 
matters in relation to this Document. 
 
The Committee also agreed that this matter be agendered 
for the next Committee Meeting. 

798   Update on cross 
SACRE working 

Angela Hill circulated to the Committee a Questionnaire on 
Cross SACRE Working for their consideration and invited 
the opinion of the Committee. 
 
Suggestions were then made for questions on the 
Questionnaire such as: 
 

 Timing of Meetings 

Page 8



 
 
 
 
   

 
Questions were also raised in relation to: 
 

 Standing agenda item to receive information from 
other SACRE’s to gain an overview of what is 
happening elsewhere 

 Quorum for this Joint SACRE 

 The Local Authorities involved 
 
Resolved that: 
 

(a) The Cross SACRE Working Questionnaire be 
circulated  to the four other Local Authorities 

(b) Angela Hill translate the Questionnaire prior to 
circulation  

(c) Angela Hill arrange a suitable date for a Cross 
SACRE Working Meeting   

799   Nominations for 
WASACRE Executives 

Angela Hill referred the Committee to the letter from 
WASACRE inviting the Committee to make nominations for 
new Members of the WASACRE Executive Committee. 
 
No nominations had been received from the Committee for 
the positions. 
 
The Committee then agreed that the nomination papers be 
recirculated to the SACRE Members inviting nominations. 

800   Dates and venues for 
future meetings 

The Committee considered the date and venue for the next 
Committee with the possibility of going out to schools as 
Meeting venues being considered. 
 
Due to logistical issues the Committee agreed that 
Meetings in Schools should be held from the Autumn Term 
onwards. 
 
Resolved that: 
 
The next SACRE Meeting be held on Tuesday 16 June 
2020 at the Civic Centre, Merthyr Tydfil commencing at 
3.45 pm. 
 
Councillor I Thomas entered the Meeting at 4.25 pm having 
been in attendance at a Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Meeting. 

801   Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair 

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent. 

 
 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 
Merthyr Tydfil 

County Borough Council 
 
 
 
 
 

Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education 
 
 

Annual Report 2019 - 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



 

2 
 

MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

STANDING ADVISORY COUNCIL FOR RELIGIOUS EDUCATION 
 
 

ANNUAL REPORT 2019- 2020 
 
 
 

CONTENTS                           PAGE 
 
           
Composition, roles and responsibilities of SACRE     3 
 
 

Executive summary              4 
 

 
Summary of advice to the local authority on       7 
religious education                     
 
 

Summary of advice on collective worship     11 
 
 

Summary of other issues        12 
 

 
Appendix 1:   Membership of SACRE      13 
 

 
Appendix 2:   Record of meetings                                            14 
 

 
Appendix 3:   Summary of examination results 2017- 2019 and                    15 
                      Year 9 teacher assessments 2019                                                   
 

              
Appendix 4:    Circulation of the report                                                           17 
 

 
Appendix 5:   Constitution of SACRE       18 
 
 

Appendix 6:   Development plan         21 
 
 

 
  

Page 12



 

3 
 

COMPOSITION, ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF SACRE 
 

COMPOSITION OF SACRE 
 
 

The membership of the Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education is determined by 
the Education Acts of 1944, 1993 and the Education Reform Act of 1988. SACRE has three 
constituent groups, each group being entitled to one vote: 

 Christian denominations and other religions and religious denominations; 

 associations representing teachers; and 

 the local authority (LA). 
 
The members representing each of these groups for 2019- 2020 are listed in Appendix 1. 
 
THE ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF SACRE  
 

The main function of a SACRE is to: 

 advise the LA about religious education and collective worship; 

 require the authority to review the agreed syllabus; 

 consider applications from schools for determinations (to be exempt from the 
requirement that worship be “Christian”); 

 publish an annual report on its work; and 

 play a part in the local statutory complaints procedure where cases are referred to it 
relating to religious education or collective worship.  

 
Advice may relate to: 

 methods of teaching; 

 the choice of teaching materials; 

 the provision of teacher training; and 

 any other matter relating to religious education and collective worship which SACRE 
considers appropriate. 

 
RECORD OF MEETINGS 
 
Two meetings of SACRE were held in the academic year 2019-2020,  

 26th November 2019 at the Civic Centre  

 10th March 2020 at the Civic Centre  
 
The summer meeting was cancelled due to the Covid-19 pandemic. An update pack 
compiled by the SACRE’s professional consultant was circulated to all members, with 
invitation to comment, in lieu of the meeting.  
 
A record of the main agenda items discussed during the meetings is to be found in Appendix 
2.  
 
CIRCULATION OF REPORT 
 
Copies of this report have been circulated to the organisations/establishments listed in 
Appendix 4. 

Page 13



 

4 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
 
Summary of the advice given to the LA by SACRE  

RELIGIOUS EDUCATION 

 
Aim: To monitor standards and provision in religious education 
 
Action 
. 

1. SACRE considers and analyses school inspection reports. If there are any issues 
regarding religious education, such as the non-fulfilment of statutory requirements, 
the LA follows this up. There was just one primary school inspected and reported on 
from June 2019 until March 2020 when school inspections ceased due to the Covid-
19 pandemic.  

 
2. SACRE only comments on those schools which are non-denominational and 

maintained by the local authority. Denominational schools fall outside of the SACRE 
remit. 
 

3. SACRE writes to schools after analysing inspection outcomes. The letter includes 
congratulations on good results.   

 
4. Comments relevant to RE (and collective worship) were positive, indicating that 

curriculum and statutory requirements were met. There were no recommendations 
relating to religious education identified and therefore no follow up action was 
necessary. 

 
5. SACRE analyses examination results over a three year period and identifies trends 

in performance benchmarked against All Wales and Consortia data.  
 

6. The LA and its SACRE gather and analyse data regarding key stage 3 teacher 
assessment in religious education.  This information is presented to SACRE and 
benchmarked against Consortia data. This information is then sent to all secondary 
schools in the LA.   

 
AGREED SYLLABUS 
 
Aim: To fulfil the legal requirement to review the agreed syllabus for religious education 
 
Action 
 

1. In 2008 Merthyr Tydfil SACRE adopted a new agreed syllabus for the authority’s 
schools to be implemented from September 2008. All schools received a programme 
of INSET in summer 2008 and received a package of support materials, including 
schemes of work. Electronic Progress in Learning files for primary and secondary 
schools were issued to schools to exemplify the new syllabus.  

Page 14



 

5 
 

 
2. In June 2013 Standing Conference endorsed the re-adoption of the Merthyr Tydfil 

agreed syllabus for religious education with an understanding that the syllabus would 
be reviewed once further information is received in relation to the assessment and 
National Curriculum review. 

 
3. Since 2013 and throughout the academic year 2019-2020 SACRE has been updated 

on a termly basis of developments with the National Curriculum review and the place 
of RE within a Humanities curriculum. SACRE has responded to two pivotal Welsh 
Government Consultations on the future of RE in Wales. It is still awaiting further 
details from Welsh Government on the shape of RE (or RVE, if it is re-named 
Religion, Values and Ethics) in the curriculum, as well as advice from WASACRE, 
before beginning any RE agreed syllabus review.  
 

4. SACRE members have been fully involved in consultation and feedback on the new 
curriculum and, in particular, the proposed re-named of Religious Education as 
‘Religion, Values and Ethics’, removing the right of parents/carers to withdraw 
children from all or part of RE provision, and the legislative proposals concerned with 
these changes. 

 
TEACHING MATERIALS 
 
Aim: To ensure that schools are informed of suitable teaching resources 
 
Action 
 
The following resources and information were provided to schools during 2019-2020: 
 

1. All schools were informed of the 2020 Holocaust Memorial Day theme and that 
Holocaust resources can be found on their website www.hmd.org.uk   

 
2. The Newsletter of the Religious Education Council of England and Wales.  

 
3. WASACRE-collated resources for home school and socially-distanced RE and 

collective worship. 
 
TRAINING FOR TEACHERS 
 
Aim: To ensure that teachers are able to access appropriate continuing professional 
development. 
 
 
Action 
 

The local authority, via Central South Consortium, offers CPD for schools. The Consortium 
hosts a Lead Practitioners’ Hwb, which is a teacher-led network for Heads of RE in 
secondary schools across the five CSCJES local authorities. With the current Welsh 
Government’s emphasis on Literacy and the New Curriculum for Wales, there has been no 
subject-specific training for primary school teachers.   

Page 15

http://www.hmd.org.uk/


 

6 
 

 
COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 
 

Aim: To ensure that schools fulfil statutory requirements for collective worship and provide 
a worthwhile experience for pupils.  
 
Action 
 

1. SACRE monitors the sections of inspection reports that are concerned with collective 
worship and spiritual, moral, social and cultural development. If there are any issues 
such as the non-fulfilment of statutory requirements the LA follows this up. One 
Merthyr primary school was inspected and reported on in the period from June 2019 
to March 2020, when school inspections ceased due to the Covid-19 pandemic. The 
inspection report was scrutinised, and no non-fulfilment of statutory requirements was 
identified, therefore no follow up action was necessary.   

 
2. Schools have been informed by SACRE of appropriate resources and websites that 

support collective worship in schools, including advice and resources circulated from 
WASACRE during the pandemic.  

 
OTHER ISSUES:  
 
Aim: To ensure a more informed SACRE through providing regular updates on local and 
national issues. 
 
Action: 
 
1. SACRE has maintained its membership of the Wales Association of SACREs 

(WASACRE) and receives termly feedback from meetings of the association.  
 

2. Members have received various reports this year 
 

3. The consultant to SACRE has discussed, in depth, developments in the New Curriculum 
for Wales and the place of RE within this, along with implications for proposed changes 
to RE (or RVE as it may be known) with members throughout the year as well as 
providing detailed written advice on these issues.   

 
4. Members discussed holding meetings at local schools and inviting presentations from 

pupils and teachers concerning RE and collective worship, but these plans have been 
put on hold due to the pandemic. Plans for SACRE visits and meetings in schools will 
resume once conditions permit.  

 
5. Members positively received ideas for cross-SACRE working across the five local 

authorities of the Consortia. Plans were put on hold to focus on core business and 
responses to Welsh Government proposals during the pandemic. Ideas will be revisited 
and implemented once conditions permit.  

 
 
 

Page 16



 

7 
 

SUMMARY OF ADVICE TO THE LOCAL AUTHORITY ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION 
 

 
The local agreed syllabus 
 
During the spring term 2008 Standing Conference endorsed and adopted a new agreed 
syllabus for the authority’s schools to be implemented from September 2008. In June 2013 
the Agreed Syllabus Conference endorsed the re-adoption of the Merthyr Tydfil agreed 
syllabus for religious education with an understanding that the syllabus would be reviewed 
once further information is received in relation to the assessment and National Curriculum 
review. 
 
 
Curriculum Review 
 
SACRE has received termly updates on curriculum development and will continue to monitor 
further developments in the curriculum review and respond accordingly on an ongoing basis 
as appropriate. RE, or if it is re-named, RVE (Religion, Values and Ethics) will become a 
statutory curriculum requirement from nursery up to age 16. In the new curriculum, RE/RVE 
will form part of the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience. Complex proposals have 
been considered by SACRE around the future of the subject in Wales’ schools. The 
proposals around re-naming the subject and removing the right of parental withdrawal also 
involve changes to the constitution of SACREs, and the status of locally agreed syllabi in 
schools.   
 
The Welsh Government has continued to invite feedback from SACREs on the latest 
proposals at two points during 2019-2020. SACRE discussed the proposals both during 
meetings and via further responses that were sent to the consultant, Angela Hill, which were 
forwarded them to Welsh Government on behalf of SACRE.  
  
The Welsh Government continues to clarify the relationship between the Humanities AoLE 
and the locally agreed syllabus and has yet to publish its revised draft framework for 
RE/RVE. During 2019-2020. SACRE has worked closely with representatives from 
WASACRE and NAPfRE to attempt to gain further insights into plans for the future of 
RE/RVE. 
 
 
Standards in religious education 
 
SACRE has adopted a number of strategies for monitoring standards achieved in religious 
education in the authority’s schools that include analysing school inspection reports, 
reviewing examination results and analysing end of key stage 3 data. Full details of all 
outcomes are to be found in  Appendix. (GCSE and Key Stage 3) 
 
Examination results 
 
SACRE considered examination performance in the secondary schools for 2019. The 
examination results are compared with the All Wales and Consortium figures and with the 

Page 17



 

8 
 

results of the previous years. SACRE members are also informed of the percentage of the 
year 11 cohort being entered for the Religious Studies GCSE examinations  
 
GCSE Full Course in Religious Education 2019 outcomes 
 
NARRATIVE 

 

 There was a decrease in entries for the GCSE Religious Studies course in 2019, which 

is trending downwards wince 2017 with 124 candidates from 3 schools. In 2018 there 

were 153 candidates.  The downward trend in entries is also evident in the figures for 

the Consortium and the All Wales as well.   

 The cohort entry for Merthyr Tydfil in 2019 was 21.3% which lower than in the previous 
two years and appears to be trending downwards. 

 The overall % of A* - G grades for Merthyr Tydfil is 100 % which on a par with 2018 and 

slightly higher than in 2017. The Consortium and All Wales performance are lower.  

 The overall % of A* - C grades for Merthyr Tydfil is 81.5% which is higher than the 

figures in both 2017 and 2018, demonstrating a particularly strong performance. Merthyr 

Tydfil’s performance is significantly higher than the both the Consortium figure and the 

All Wales figures, which stand at around 63%.  

 The overall % of A* - A grades for Merthyr Tydfil is 27.4% which is on a par with the 

previous year and is above the Consortium and the All Wales figures. 

 

GCSE Short Course in Religious Education 2018 outcomes 
 
NARRATIVE 
 

 In 2018 there was a slight increase in the number of students sitting the GCSE 

Religious Studies short course, but in 2019 this has dropped to a figure below that of 

2017. Entries are now only from 2 schools as opposed to 4 in the previous two years. 

Across Wales only 6718 students were entered for GCSE short course Religious 

Studies, compared with 8307 in 2018. The Consortium figure is also lower than in the 

previous two years. 

 The overall % of A* - G grades for Merthyr Tydfil in 2018 is 62.8%, a significant 

decrease on the previous two years. The figure is substantially below both the 

Consortium performance and all Wales figures but can be accounted for by the 

possibility that schools entering students for short course Religious Studies are not 

practising selective entry. This is indicated in the numbers of entries, with both schools 

showing entries in triple figures.  

 The overall % of A* - C grades for Merthyr Tydfil in 2018 is 25.2%; a reduction on the 

previous two years (33.7 and 33.5% respectively). Merthyr’s 2019 performance is 

below that of both the Consortium and All Wales performance. 

 The overall % of A*- A grades for Merthyr Tydfil in 2019 is 5.8 %. This is on a par with 

2018 but lower than 2017. This performance is substantially lower than the Consortium 

and All Wales figures. 

Page 18



 

9 
 

Key stage 3 data 
 
NARRATIVE 
 
Members of Merthyr Tydfil SACRE also consider the levels awarded by teachers to pupils 
at the end of key stage 3. Teacher assessment is not moderated externally. Teachers arrive 
at judgements for each pupil using assessment information gathered during the course of 
key stage 3. Exemplification material is made available to schools in order to moderate 
standards internally against the level description contained in the agreed syllabus.  
 

 At all levels (L5+, L6+ and L7+) the local authority is below the consortium  

 Boys performance is slightly below girls at L5+ and L7+, but is on a par at L6+ 

School inspection reports 
 
SACRE, with the LA’s agreement and co-operation, receives reports from professional 
officers on standards and provision and reviews summary reports of inspection findings and 
Estyn surveys.  During the academic year of 2019-20 SACRE members received details of 
school inspections undertaken and reported on between June 2019 and March 2020, when 
school inspections ceased due to the Covid-19 pandemic.  
 
If there are any issues regarding religious education, such as the non-fulfilment of statutory 
requirements, the LA follows this up. There was just one primary school inspected during 
the above period. Comments were positive, indicating that curriculum and statutory 
requirements were met. There were no recommendations relating to religious education 
identified in the report and therefore no follow up action was necessary. 
 
 
Methods of teaching, choice of teaching materials, teacher training 
 
Professional Development  
 
The local authority, via the Central South Consortium, offers CPD to schools. The 
Consortium provides a teacher-led Lead Practitioners’ Hwb, which is a network for 
secondary Heads of RE across the five local authorities. Heads of RE meet on a termly 
basis. There continues to be no subject-specific training for primary schools in relation to RE 
or collective worship.  
 
Holocaust Memorial Day 2019 Resources 

All schools were informed of the 2019 Holocaust Memorial Day theme. 

Schools were informed by SACRE that further information about the theme and free 
educational Holocaust resources can be found on their website www.hmd.org.uk – these 
include lesson plans, film clips, case studies, collective worship/assembly material and 
worksheets suitable for primary to post 16 students.  
 

Page 19

http://www.hmd.org.uk/


 

10 
 

During the pandemic, information on resources for RE home learning and socially 
distanced RE was collated by WASACRE and distributed to SACREs to circulate to 
schools.  

 
  

Page 20



 

11 
 

SUMMARY OF ADVICE ON COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 
 
 
School inspection reports 
 
The local authority and its SACRE scrutinised relevant sections of Estyn school inspection 
reports for the period June 2019 to March 2020, when school inspections ceased due to the 
Covid-19 pandemic. If any issues emerge regarding collective worship, such as non- 
fulfilment of statutory requirements, then the LA follows this up requesting the school’s action 
plan.  
 
During this period only 1 secondary school was inspected in the Local Authority. SACRE 
assumes that the school met statutory requirements in relation to collective worship as Estyn 
has not noted non-compliance and commented that the school promotes The school 
promotes pupils’ social, moral and spiritual development effectively during acts of collective 
worship. Therefore, no follow up action was necessary.  
 
 
Applications for determinations 
 
No applications were received from schools for determinations to be made on the lifting of 
the requirements for collective worship to be wholly or mainly of a broadly Christian 
character. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 21



 

12 
 

SUMMARY OF OTHER ISSUES 
 
WASACRE 
 
SACRE continues to support the work of the WASACRE and recognises the value of the 
body in promoting religious education and collective worship on a national basis. SACRE is 
represented on the WASACRE executive committee by the Chair of SACRE Ernie 
Galsworthy and their professional consultant, Angela Hill, and members receive regular 
feedback from them and other representatives who attend WASACRE meetings.  
 
WELSH GOVERNMENT NATIONAL CURRICULUM REVIEW  
 
SACRE has received termly updates, through feedback from the Consultant to SACRE, 
Angela Hill, on the progress of the National Curriculum Review and its implications for RE 
in the curriculum. RE remains a statutory curriculum requirement from reception and will 
form part of the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience. SACRE has also responded 
to two Welsh Government consultations on Religious Education. The main changes relating 
to RE in these proposals being to change the name of the subject from Religious Education 
to Religion, Values and Ethics and to remove the right of parents and carers to withdraw 
children from all or part of RE (RVE) lessons.  
 
 
TRAINING OF SACRE MEMBERS 
 
As part of it’s training for members SACRE proposed the following: 
To keep members updated on developments in RE and collective worship through regular 
presentations to SACRE members. The SACRE’s professional consultant provides updates 
at each meeting on developments relating to the RE curriculum, the position on RE in 
schools and the implications of proposed changes to RE. In addition, the consultant has also 
compiled a directory of key terms for SACRE members’ reference, which has been reviewed 
and approved by SACRE members across the five local authorities in the Consortium. 
 
 
 
  

Page 22



 

13 
 

APPENDIX 1:     MEMBERSHIP OF SACRE 2019-2020 
 
 
Local Authority 
 
Councillor Ernie Galsworthy (Chair) Local Authority 
Councillor David Hughes Local Authority 
Councillor Ian Tomas Local Authority 
Councillor Michelle Jones Local Authority 

 
 
Teacher Associations 
 
Sian Bernard-Henderson/  
Leanne McCarthy 

 
National Education Union 

  
Justine Jones 
 

NAS/UWT 
 

Katy Thomas Association of College Managers 
 

Lucy Draper National Education Union 
 
Religious Denominations 
  
Deacon David O’Keefe Roman Catholic Church 
Andy Pitt Evangelical Church 
Ann Starr Presbyterian Church/United Reform 

Church (URC) 
Father Mark Prevett Church in Wales 
Janine Brill  Salvation Army 

  
LA Officers 
 
Sarah Bowen    MTCBC Inclusion and Wellbeing Manager 
 
Karen Reddy     Clerk to SACRE 
 
Angela Hill                           Independent RE Consultant 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



 

14 
 

APPENDIX 2:    RECORD OF MEETINGS AND MAIN AGENDA ITEMS 
  
November 26, 2019 3.45 at Civic Centre Merthyr 

 

 Apologies for absence  

 Declaration of interest 

 Minutes of previous meeting held on 4th June 2019 

 Matters arising 

 Election of Chair/vice chair  

 Constitution/membership update, introduction to new adviser  

 Annual Report 2018-19 

 Updates from WASACRE and NAPfRE  

 Welsh Government consultation on ensuring full access to the curriculum 

 Self-evaluation and development pla 

 Views on cross-SACRE working 

 Dates and venues for future meetings 

 AOB 
 

   
March 10, 2020 3.45 at Civic Centre, Merthyr 

 

 Apologies for absence 

 Declaration of interest 

 Minutes of previous meeting held on 26th November 2019 

 Matters arising 

 Constitution/membership update 

 WASACRE updates including forthcoming meeting 

 Curriculum updates: 
a. Discussion of plans to change the name of RE to Religion, Values and Ethics 

and remove the parental right of withdrawal 
b. Discussion and response to the new draft framework for RVE with reference 

to the new curriculum guidance issued in January 2020 
 

 Self-evaluation and development plan 

 Update on cross-SACRE working 

 Dates and venues for future meetings 

 AOB 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 24



 

15 
 

 

APPENDIX 3:    OUTCOME DATA 
 

EXAMINATION RESULTS ANALYSIS 2019 
 

 GCSE Religious Studies Full Course 
  

Merthyr  
2017 

 
Merthyr 

2018 

 
Merthyr  

2019 

 

Consortium 
2019 

 

All Wales 2019 

A*- A 21.6% 27.7% 27.4% 26.1% 26.1% 

A* - C 65.4% 74.2% 81.5% 63.6% 63.0% 

A* - 
G 

98.8% 100.0% 100.0% 94.7% 95.0% 

Entry 162 students 
(28.8% of cohort) 

4 schools 

159 students 
(27.8% of 

cohort) 
3 schools 

124 students 
(21.3%  

of cohort) 
3 schools 

4533 students 
(47.2% of cohort) 

1198 students 
(32.5% of cohort) 

 

 
 GCSE Religious Studies Short Course 

 

  
Merthyr 2017 

 
Merthyr 2018 

 
Merthyr 2019 

 

Consortium 2019 
 

All Wales 2019 

A*- A 7.2% 5.4% 5.8% 11.0% 10.0 % 

A* - C 33.7% 33.5% 25.2% 38.0% 35.0 % 

A* - G 90.2% 85% 
 

62.8% 73.8% 87.0 % 

Entry 306 students 313 students 258 students 
 

(44.3% of cohort) 
2 schools 

1768 students 6718 students 

 (53.6% of (54.8% of cohort)  (18.4 of cohort%) (21.4% of cohort) 
 cohort) 4 schools and 

EOTAS 

   

 4 schools     

 & EOTAS     

*EOTAS – Education Other than at School 

P
age 25



 

16 
 

Key Stage 3 outcomes: Religious Studies Levels Data 2019 
 

        
A

ll
 P

u
p

il
s
 

 

N
O

R
 

%
 N

o
t 

a
w

a
rd

e
d

 a
 

le
v
e

l 

%
 D

is
a
p

p
li

e
d

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

1
 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

2
 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

3
 

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

4
 

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

5
 

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

6
 

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

7
 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

8
 

%
 E

x
c
e

p
ti

o
n

a
l 

 
%

 T
o

ta
l 
P

u
p

il
s
 

 
%

 L
 5

+
 

 
%

 L
 6

+
 

 
%

 L
 7

+
 

Merthyr 493 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.0 3.9 8.9 37.7 32.0 8.5 0.0 0.0 100.0 78.3 40.6 8.5 

CSCJES 7340 0.2 0.4 0.1 0.2 2.1 8.6 31.2 37.2 18.4 1.9 0.0 100.0 88.7 57.5 20.4 

 

        
B

o
y
s
 

 

N
O

R
 

%
 N

o
t 

a
w

a
rd

e
d

 a
 

le
v
e

l 

%
 D

is
a
p

p
li

e
d

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

1
 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

2
 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

3
 

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

4
 

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

5
 

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

6
 

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

7
 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

8
 

%
 E

x
c
e

p
ti

o
n

a
l 

 
%

 T
o

ta
l 
P

u
p

il
s
 

 
%

 L
 5

+
 

 
%

 L
 6

+
 

 
%

 L
 7

+
 

Merthyr 255 0.0 0.8 0.0 0.0 5.5 20.0 39.2 29.8 4.7 0.0 0.0 100.0 81.3 47.2 11.4 

CSCJES 3685 0.0 0.3 0.1 0.2 2.9 11.6 36.5 35.1 11.8 1.1 0.0 100.0 84.5 48.0 12.9 

 

        
G

ir
ls

 

 

N
O

R
 

%
 N

o
t 

a
w

a
rd

e
d

 a
 

le
v
e

l 

%
 D

is
a
p

p
li

e
d

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

1
 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

2
 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

3
 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

4
 

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

5
 

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

6
 

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

7
 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

8
 

%
 E

x
c
e

p
ti

o
n

a
l 

 
%

 T
o

ta
l 
P

u
p

il
s
 

 
%

 L
 5

+
 

 
%

 L
 6

+
 

 
%

 L
 7

+
 

Merthyr 238 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.0 2.1 15.1 36.1 34.5 12.6 0.0 0.0 100.0 83.2 47.1 12.6 

CSCSJES 3327 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.6 5.1 30.7 38.1 21.9 2.8 0.1 100.0 93.6 62.8 24.8 

P
age 26



 

 

APPENDIX 4:   CIRCULATION OF THE ANNUAL REPORT 
 
 
Copies will be sent electronically to the relevant bodies. This report will be available on the 
local authority and WASACRE websites for interested parties to download.  
 
 

 Members of Merthyr Tydfil SACRE 
 

 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Democratic Services 
 

 All Merthyr Tydfil County Borough schools 
 

 Central South Consortium 
 

 Wales Association of SACREs (WASACRE) 
 

 National Library, Aberystwyth 
 

 Welsh Government 
 

 Estyn 
 

 Cytun 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

17  

Page 27



 

18 
 

APPENDIX 5: 
 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council  
 

Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education 
 

Constitution 
Terms of reference 
 
1. To advise the LA on matters connected with collective worship in county schools. 
 
2. To advise the LA on matters connected with religious education which is given in 

accordance with the agreed syllabus. 
 
3. To decide when, within the five year statutory time scale, the LA should review its 

agreed syllabus. 
 
4. To consider with the LA and the Agreed Syllabus Conference any changes required to 

the agreed syllabus. 
 
5. To consider with the LA the support offered to religious education in its schools, with 

particular regard to methods of teaching, the choice of teaching materials and the 
provision of training for teachers. 

 
6. To offer advice on any other matters related to its function as it sees fit. 
 
7. To publish an annual report on its work, which should: 
 

a.  specify any matters on which it has advised the LA; 
b.  broadly describe the nature of the advice; 
c.  set out its reasons for offering advice on any matters which were not referred to it 

in the first place by the LA; and 
d.  record the membership of SACRE and the dates of meetings held. 

 
8. To participate in the LA’s statutory complaints procedures in those instances where 

the complaints relate to religious education and/or collective worship. 
 
9. To receive and make determinations in respect of applications from headteachers of 

county schools for the lifting or modifying of the requirements that collective worship in 
such schools must be wholly or mainly of a broadly Christian character. 
 

Composition 
 
10. The council shall comprise three groups representing: 
 

a.  Such Christian and other religious denominations as, in the opinion of the LA will 
appropriately reflect the religious traditions in the area.  
 

Page 28



 

19 
 

b.  Such associations representing teachers as, in the opinion of the LA, ought to be 
represented having regard to the circumstances of the area. 

 
c.  The LA. 

 
11. The Council may also co-opt members. 
 
12. Membership of the Council shall be for a period of four years. Any outgoing members 

may be re-appointed. 
 
13. Membership of the Council is subject to the condition that the LA has taken all 

reasonable steps to assure itself that the persons appointed are representative, as the 
case may be, of the denominations or associations in question. 

 
14. Members representing associations of teachers must include teachers of religious 

education. 
 
15. Individuals may be removed from the Council if they cease to be representative of the 

denomination, association or of the Authority they were appointed to represent. 
 
16. Any member of the Council may at any time resign his or her office. 
 
Proceedings 
 
17. The Council shall meet not less than once in each school term. 
 
18. The Council shall elect from its membership a chairperson and vice chairperson at the 

first meeting in each academic year. The chairperson and vice chairperson in any one 
year shall not be drawn from the same representative group. An outgoing chairperson 
may be re-appointed. 

 
19. On any question to be decided by the Council only the representative groups on the 

Council shall be entitled to vote, and each group shall have a single vote. Before a 
formal vote is taken opportunity shall be given to each representative group to 
determine how its vote is to be cast.  

 
20. Co-opted members are not entitled to vote. 

 
21. The agenda for each meeting shall be determined by the chairperson and vice 

chairperson in consultation with the clerk to SACRE, Director of Education and 
Professional Officer. Any voting member of SACRE shall be entitled to propose items 
for an agenda. 

 
22. In the case of any member not being able to attend a Council meeting, a substitute 

may be nominated by the body which that person represents, provided that the 
substitute meets the eligibility criteria and the Education Directorate of the LA is notified 
in advance of the meeting. 

 

Page 29



 

20 
 

23. A meeting of the Council will be deemed to be quorate if at least one member of each 
of the three representative groups is present. 

 
24. The validity of proceedings of the Council shall not be affected: 
 

a.  by a vacancy in the office of any member of the Council or 
 
b. on the grounds that a member of the Council appointed to represent any 

denomination or association does not, at the time of the proceedings, represent 
the denomination or association in question. 

 
25. The representative groups on the Council, other than that representing the Authority, 

may call, at any time, for a review of the agreed syllabus current in the Authority. At 
such time an Agreed Syllabus Conference shall be constituted and convened. 

 
26. The Council shall consider its annual report at the first meeting to be held in each 

academic year. Upon the Council’s ratification of the report it shall proceed to 
publication. 

 
27. The clerk to the SACRE shall arrange for copies of the annual report to be sent to all 

county schools within the Authority, to DfES, the National Library and to such other 
individuals and institutions as the LA sees fit. 

Page 30



 

 

Appendix 6:   Development Plan 
 

MERTHYR TYDFIL SACRE DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2020– 2023 (ACADEMIC YEAR)  

 
Aim 1: To monitor standards in Religious Education and Religious Studies.  
            Work with school staff to support the above and to add value to work of the SACRE 
Questions to consider 
 

 How well do we know how our schools and the SACRE is doing? 

 Do we have enough information to make judgements? 

 What else could we do? 

 Is there any way we can support teachers’ professional development –CPD? 

 What do we need to do to help schools understand the role of SACRE? 
 

Areas of development  Schedule 
Actions to 
consider 

People 
involved 

Time and 
costs 

Outcomes Progress at June 
2019 

1.1  Monitor standards through regular 

 Review of inspection reports/ Estyn 
thematic reviews and recommend, 
where necessary, action by Local 
Authority. 

Annual 
agenda item 
Autumn 
Term  
 

Full SACRE 
Adviser 

Agenda time 
Adviser time 
for analysis 

Advice to LA on trends across 
the county borough; advice, 
where appropriate, on 
particular schools; follow up 
through school visits and 
review of action plan where 
necessary. 

Inspection analyses 
carried out on regular 
basis. The majority 
have judgements on 
RE Collective worship 
and spiritual 
development 

1.2 Receive information on results of: 
      Teacher Assessment at end of  
      Key Stage 3; GCSE Religious  
      Studies Full and Short Course;     
      A/AS level Religious Studies. 
 

Spring Term  
 

Full SACRE 
 Adviser 

Agenda time 
Adviser time 
for analysis 

Advice to LA on trends; 
advice, where appropriate, on 
particular schools. 
 

SACRE members 
receive outcome data 
for KS3 and 4 at 
Teacher input at Spring 
meeting where 
possible  

21 

P
age 31



 

22 
 

1.3 Identify CPD needs, monitor and  
      offer advice on training. 
 

Autumn 
Term  
 
 

Full SACRE Agenda time Training programme received 
along with figures on uptake; 
advice to LA. 
  

There remains a 
shortage of specialist 
RE CPD and the new 
curriculum will continue 
to make demands for 
this. 
Head of RE in 
secondary schools 
have access to the 
Consortium’s Lead 
Practitioner Hwb, which 
is a teacher-led 
network, focussed 
mainly on improving 
outcomes in external 
RS examinations. 

1.4 Involve staff in schools more closely   
with work of the SACRE 

 

ongoing 
 

Full SACRE 
teachers 

Agenda time Improved understanding of all 
SACRE members of work in 
schools and better 
understanding of the work of 
the SACRE  
  

School staff contributed 
to discussions on 
curriculum and 
monitoring of standards 
as well as to the 
responses to the 2 
Welsh Government 
consultations affecting 
RE this year. SACRE 
was making plans to 
meet at schools, but 
this was disrupted by 
the pandemic. 

P
age 32



 

23 
 

 SACRE DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2020 – 2023 (ACADEMIC YEAR)  

 
Aim 2: To review the agreed syllabus (as appropriate) and support its implementation, taking into consideration the new 

curriculum arrangements for RE as they are implemented 
  

Questions to consider 
 

 How will new curriculum arrangements impact actions? 

 What support will schools need? 

 How can SACRE members be best updated on new curriculum? 

 How are SACRE and Agreed Syllabus likely to change? 

 
Areas of development Schedule People involved Time and costs Outcomes Progress 

2.1 To review the agreed syllabus 
for Religious Education 

 
 

Summer 2019 
onwards (or as 
appropriate) 

Full SACRE 
Adviser 
Working group 
NAPfRE 

Advisory time to review 
the agreed syllabus. 
Establish a working 
group (if applicable). 
Convene a Standing 
Conference to  adopt 
the syllabus 
Publication/ translation  
costs (as appropriate) 

Agreed syllabus 
reviewed and 
adopted by Standing 
Conference. 
Agreed Syllabus 
training programme 
for schools  (if 
required) 
Agreed syllabus to be 
implemented the 
Autumn term after 
adoption. 

To be discussed at 
termly SACRE 
meetings. As SACRE 
still unclear about 
potential changes 
with new curriculum 
arrangements this 
will need to be on the 
agenda at each 
meeting. SACRE is 
still awaiting clarity 
from WG regarding 
proposed changes to 
RE/RVE and the 
publication of a 
revised draft 
framework for the 
subject. 

P
age 33



 

24 
 

2.2 Materials to support f the 
agreed syllabus for RE 

 

Ongoing  
 

Full SACRE 
Consultant 
 

 Advisory time 
 
 

Support materials 
available to schools 
and accessed 
through Consortium 
website. 

WASACRE and 
NAPfRE can be 
contacted to advise. 
Timings are 
contingent upon the 
release of information 
by Welsh 
Government. 

 
 

2.3 To keep updated on progress 
in terms of implementation of 
RE in new curriculum 

 

In line with WG 
implementation 
process 
 

Full SACRE 
Consultant 
 

 Advisory time 
 
 

Schools well 
informed and 
prepared to introduce 
new arrangements 

Curriculum is a 
standing item on the 
agenda for meetings. 
Members have 
discussed on 2 
occasions and have 
contributed to WG 
consultations on new 
curriculum 

 
 
 
 
  

P
age 34



 

25 
 

 

 SACRE DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2020– 2023 (ACADEMIC YEAR)  

 
Aim 3: To monitor provision and provide support for collective worship. 
 
Questions to consider 
 

 Are there other ways SACRE members can monitor the above? 

 Links with Estyn? 
 

Areas of development Schedule People 
involved 

Time and 
costs 

Outcomes Progress 

3.1 Monitor provision for collective worship 
through regular review of inspection 
report and recommend, where 
necessary, action by LA. 

Annual 
agenda item 
Autumn 
term 
 
 

Full 
SACRE 
and 
Adviser  

Agenda time 
Adviser time for 
analysis 
 

Advice to LA on trends 
across the county borough; 
advice, where appropriate, 
on particular schools; follow 
up through school visits and 
review of action plan where 
necessary.  

Inspection reports 
scrutinised and where 
necessary advice is 
given to the Local 
Authority and schools 
concerned. 

3.2 To support the implementation of 
statutory collective worship 

Ongoing 
 
 

Advisory 
service  
 

Advisory time   
 

Provision of INSET (if 
applicable) 
Schools informed of 
resources and websites for 
collective worship. 
Schools informed of 
guidance materials available 
for collective worship  
 
 

During the pandemic, 
advice and resources 
from WASACRE was 
circulated to schools. 

 
 

P
age 35



 

26 
 

 

 SACRE DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2020– 2023 (ACADEMIC YEAR) 

 
Aim 4: To ensure a more informed SACRE through providing regular updates on local and national issues related to RE and 
collective worship in schools. In this to enable SACRE members to evaluate their own development and progress as a committee 
 
Questions to consider 

 How can SACRE member’s best develop their role as a Council? 

 In what other ways can we ensure that schools and local community understand the role and wok of SACRE? 

 What do we need to do to improve as a SACRE? 
 

Areas of development Schedule People 
involved 

Time and 
costs 

Outcomes Progress 

4.1 To update members on the role of 
SACRE and its implications; recent 
developments in RE and collective 
worship; guidance materials from 
relevant bodies; input from practising 
teachers and outside providers 

Termly/ 
Annually as 
required 

SACRE 
members , 
Adviser, 
practising 
teachers,  
outside 
providers  

Member time; 
Adviser / Officer 
time  

SACRE members fully aware 
of their responsibilities.  
SACRE and schools updated 
and informed of recent 
developments and initiatives, 
both local and national. 
 

Input form teacher 
representatives at 
SACRE meetings 
have helped to 
progress this 
 
Ideas for working 
across CSCJES 
SACREs have been 
received positively 
and work on this will 
resume when 
conditions permit. 

4.2 Programme of school visits. Termly/Ann
ually as 
required 
 

 SACRE 
members, 
Adviser/ 
Officers 

Member time; 
Officer time to 
arrange visits 

More informed SACRE on 
provision and practice 
regarding RE and collective 
worship in schools.  

To be addressed – 
progress halted due 
to pandemic 

P
age 36



 

27 
 

4.3 To ensure that members are 
aware of strengths and areas for 
development of the SACRE 

 

Termly/Ann
ually as 
required 
 

SACRE 
members, 
Adviser/ 
Officers 

Member time; 
Officer time to 
arrange visits 

see 4.1 Discussions around 
the purpose and 
efficacy of SACRE 
underly discussions 
at all meetings. 

 

P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Education Minister Kirsty Williams has today (Tuesday 10 November) confirmed Wales’ 
approach for qualifications in 2021 and her decision that there will be no end of year 
exams for learners taking GCSEs, AS levels or A levels 

The Minister outlined: 

 that in place of exams, the Welsh Government intended to work with schools and colleges to take 
forward teacher-managed assessments 

 that this should include assessments that will be externally set and marked but delivered within a 
classroom environment under teacher supervision 

 her expectation this work will form the basis for centre-based outcomes which will be linked to an 
agreed national approach to provide consistency across Wales 

The announcement has been made after considering detailed advice published by Qualifications Wales on 
the delivery options available as well as the interim findings of an independent review into this year’s exams 
process. 

The Minister also discussed options with a range of people including learners and their families, 
headteachers, college leaders, the Children’s Commissioner and universities across the UK. 

Confirming her policy decision, Education Minister Kirsty Williams said: 

The well-being of learners and ensuring fairness across the system is central in our decision making 
process. 

In line with the recommendations of both Qualifications Wales and the Independent Review, there will be 
no exams for GCSE or AS level learners next year. A-level students will also not be required to sit exams. 

We remain optimistic that the public heath situation will improve, but the primary reason for my decision is 
down to fairness; the time learners will spend in schools and colleges will vary hugely and, in this situation, 
it is impossible to guarantee a level playing field for exams to take place. 

We have consulted with universities across the UK and they have confirmed that they are used to 
accepting many different types of qualifications. 

They expect a transparent and robust approach which provides evidence of a learner’s knowledge and 
ability.  

Our intended approach does just that, as it is designed to maximise the time for teaching and learning.  

Cancelling exams provides time for teaching and learning to continue throughout the summer term, to build 
the knowledge, skills and confidence in our learners to progress in whatever they decide to do next. 

The Minister said Welsh Government would work with teachers to take forward teacher-managed 
assessments and that they should include assessments that will be externally set and marked, but 
delivered within a classroom environment under teacher supervision. 

Teachers would have flexibility when it is best to undertake them, in the context of results timelines 

The Minister said: 

The full approach to this will be developed by school and college leaders, supported by Welsh Government 
and advised by Qualifications Wales and WJEC. 

My policy intention is that this will form the basis for centre-based outcomes which will be linked to an 
agreed national approach to provide consistency across Wales to assure universities and colleges of our 
approach.  

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



This work will be completed in the autumn term to provide time for implementation from January and we 
envisage that the first assessment activities will not commence until the latter half of the spring term. 

The Minister also reiterated that a £50 million package of support has been put in place to support learners 
in exam years to develop the skills and knowledge they need to confidently progress. 

The Minister added: 

This remains a highly challenging year and what I have announced today sets a course which removes 
pressures from learners and provides clear time for teaching and learning.  

I now look to our schools, colleges, qualifications bodies, and the wider education sector to work 
cooperatively and collaboratively through the year to support our learners and enable them to progress with 
confidence. 

The situation for Vocational Qualifications is more complex and will require extra work. 

The Minister confirmed Welsh Government officials would continue to support Qualifications Wales as they 
work closely with other regulators to ensure a ‘pragmatic approach that works in learners’ interests and 
gives them clarity about the way forward.’ 

https://gov.wales/wales-approach-qualifications-2021-confirmed-education-minister-kirsty-williams 

10th November 2021 

Page 40

https://gov.wales/wales-approach-qualifications-2021-confirmed-education-minister-kirsty-williams


Dear SACRE Clerks, 
  
I am writing to inform you of the results of the Executive Committee elections from 
the WASACRE AGM on Wednesday 7th October. We are pleased to announce that the positions were 
successfully appointed as follows: 
  

·         Vice Chair: Tania ap Sion 
·         Executive Committee (x2): Phil Lord and John Meredith   

  
Rachel Samuel was also appointed to the position of Chair, with The Revd Canon Edward J Evans 
taking the position of Immediate Past Chair. 
  
We are really grateful for the applications received this year and we look forward to working with 
you all in an exciting time for Religious Education. 
  
Best wishes, 
Alice Parry 
 
WASACRE Secretary  
 

Page 41

Agenda Item 8a



This page is intentionally left blank



WASACRE/NAPfRE Curriculum Updates 

Autumn 2020  

RE/RVE in the New Curriculum for Wales  
Present Position with RE/RVE and the New Curriculum for Wales 
   
The Welsh Parliament’s Children, Young People and Education Committee is currently scrutinising the general 
principles of the Curriculum and Assessment (Wales) Bill. The Committee issued a call for views in July with a 
deadline of September 29. Both the Wales Association of SACREs (WASACRE) and the National Advisory Panel for 
Religious Education Wales (NAPfRE) are due to meet with the Committee on October 15 to present their views on, 
and discuss issues relating to, the draft Bill. 
  
The Supporting Framework for Religion, Values and Ethics is still awaiting publication, which we believe to be 
scheduled for this Autumn. WASACRE knows of no plans to delay the Curriculum for Wales amid the Covid – 19 
response and we expect that though schools, local authorities and consortia are getting used to the challenges of a 
very different way of working at the moment, the new curriculum is set to be implemented, as originally planned, for 
roll out to all ages up to Year 7, from September 2022. 
  
WASACRE is in regular contact with Welsh Government with regards to Professional Learning for RE, and 
representatives from WASACRE and NAPfRE have met with Qualifications Wales as part of their current consultation 
on the qualifications for the new curriculum. 

Libby Jones  
Chair of NAPfRE 

 
WASACRE News Update, July 2020 
(http://wasacre.org.uk/news.html) 
 

The changing landscape of RE in Wales 
 
The landscape of education in Wales is set to change, and not just because of Covid-19! In January 2020 Welsh 
Government published the Curriculum for Wales which champions a more integrated approach to learning, though 
not exclusively, with RE forming part of the Humanities area of learning and experience. This means that by 
September 2022 RE will no longer stand outside the ‘national curriculum’, but will be part of it for the first time. The 
new curriculum in Wales focuses on ‘what matters’ in each area of learning and experience, and is based on the 
principle of subsidiarity, which gives each school in Wales the opportunity to design its own curriculum. Whilst RE 
will remain statutory and retain its own specific legislation surrounding this, that legislation will be amended to 
reflect this new approach. This is a time of opportunity and challenge for SACREs in Wales as they respond to the 
changing landscape of RE in Wales. 
 
The first major change is the name; from ‘religious education’ to ‘religion, values and ethics’, or RVE. The second will 
be a number of significant changes to current legislation which could have serious consequences for RE in Wales and 
beyond. The proposals for these changes are currently still in consultation and WASACRE has urged as many groups 
and individuals as possible to respond to this consultation in order to have their voice heard.      
 
Due to the importance of this consultation WASACRE has met with several organisations, including the REC to enable 
the widest possible discussion on the proposals in order to inform its own carefully considered response. WASACRE 
has reached out to its member SACREs to support them in responding too, by offering a Q and A session to 
representatives of individual SACREs and also to offer advice on how to meet during these unprecedented times, in 
order to produce a response that is representative of its own local membership. As you can imagine, being in 
lockdown during this consultation has been very challenging for WASACRE and its members SACREs! 
 
Representatives of WASACRE and its sister organisation the National Advisory Panel for Religious Education (NAPfRE) 
have been involved in the drafting of the new RVE Framework, which will form part of the statutory guidance for the 
Curriculum for Wales once it has been published. The document will be shared with SACREs and other key Page 43

Agenda Item 8b

http://wasacre.org.uk/news.html
https://gov.wales/legislative-proposals-religion-values-and-ethics


stakeholders for initial feedback, followed by a formal consultation which is expected some time in the autumn, so 
keep your eyes peeled! 
 
In response to the Covid-19 pandemic the WASACRE Executive Committee has reached out to schools and local 
authorities to offer support and guidance in a sensitive and helpful way by producing a document called, Advice for 
Schools in Wales on Collective Worship during the Covid-19 Pandemic. The advice focuses on the well-being of our 
learners, which includes their spiritual, social and emotional well-being too. It encourages schools to continue 
offering regular collective worship assemblies during this time, giving opportunities for all members of the school 
community to stay connected in a way that is meaningful for them. 
 
As the future of education remains uncertain, with schools trying to plan for a number of different scenarios in 
September, WASACRE is keen to continue to support schools with RE going forward.  We know that many teachers, 
especially those in secondary schools, have plenty of resources to support their learners with blended learning from 
a variety of organisations, including from each other. The WASACRE Executive Committee has committed to raising 
its own profile on social media in order to provide schools and teachers with a more visible and accessible route to 
the right advice and support for RE and collective worship.  The Association is currently in the process of designing a 
new website. There is a presence on Facebook and we have stepped up our use of Twitter to disseminate 
information about the latest developments here in Wales, and the wider world. 
 
The Welsh language version can be viewed here: http://wasacre.org.uk/cym-news.html  

                                                              

Page 44

http://wasacre.org.uk/publications.html
http://wasacre.org.uk/publications.html
http://wasacre.org.uk/cym-news.html


 

 

ADVICE FOR SCHOOLS IN WALES  

ON COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 

DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC  

 

 

This pandemic is causing us to work in new and creative ways. We have been asked to think 

differently about how we offer learners the best experience possible for their ongoing education 

and as a result, huge amounts of activities and learning experiences have been shared with 

parents/carers and their children across Wales to support this.  

You‘re doing a fantastic job, thank you!  

 

Collective worship in the current climate 

Currently, one of our top priorities is the well-being of our learners, and that includes their spiritual, 

social and emotional well-being too.  Daily assemblies with an act of collective worship are a 

valuable part of school life. They help to develop community spirit, promote a common ethos and 

shared values, and reinforce positive attitudes. In these unprecedented times, this is needed now 

more than ever.  School life has changed, and continuing to offer regular collective worship 

assemblies during this time gives opportunities for all members of the school community 

(learners, all school staff, families and the wider community - should they wish to participate) to 

stay connected in a way that is meaningful for them. Being part of a collective experience on a 

regular basis will be a lifeline for some of our children and young people who, during this time, 

may feel isolated and anxious. It will not only offer them a sense of normality but also the space 

and time to reflect and to consider what is important to themselves and others. It will enable them 

to come together as one community and find comfort in belonging. 

When planning for collective worship assemblies in the current climate, headteachers need to 

consider the guidance from Welsh Government Live-streaming safeguarding principles and 

practice for education practitioners https://hwb.gov.wales/zones/online-safety/live-streaming-

safeguarding-principles-and-practice-for-education-practitioners/.This has been published as 

part of the ‘Stay Safe. Stay Learning’ programme to support schools who wish to live-stream 

lessons with their learners.  

How to facilitate acts of collective worship for distance learning 

There are a number of ways in which schools can offer collective worship assemblies that would 

be achievable and manageable for learners and parents/carers.  It is also important that planning 

collective worship assemblies does not put undue pressure on headteachers and teachers, at an 

already stressful time. The following are just some suggestions for schools to consider to help 

them ensure that all learners are given the opportunity to take part in collective worship 

assemblies regularly, whilst distance learning.   

It is always important to consider the backgrounds of all pupils when planning collective worship 

assemblies.  This might be even more so when considering these sessions are being accessed 

at home by parents/carers who are unfamiliar with the nature of collective worship assemblies in 

school.  These sessions will naturally support spiritual, social and emotional well-being. In order 

 

Page 45

Agenda Item 8c

https://hwb.gov.wales/zones/online-safety/live-streaming-safeguarding-principles-and-practice-for-education-practitioners/
https://hwb.gov.wales/zones/online-safety/live-streaming-safeguarding-principles-and-practice-for-education-practitioners/


 

 

to be fully inclusive, it should be made clear when an opportunity for worship is being presented, 

that there is no compulsion to worship, and that each family can choose whether to participate in 

worship, or reflection, or a time of stillness, or simply a time of quiet contemplation.   

Schools could offer: 

 streamed Headteacher’s collective worship assemblies that follow specific themes in 

which successes are shared and time for reflection or worship is included. Designated staff 

might assist headteachers in preparing assemblies on a rota basis;  

 live collective worship assemblies through video conferencing e.g. through Microsoft 

Teams in Hwb;  

 thoughts for the day delivered via the school website, social media or email which can be 

used as a meaningful way to provide opportunities for emotional, social, and spiritual 

development and an opportunity to worship as appropriate;  

 to send examples of reflections for learners to consider at home, which could simply 

include music, a picture/short video or a meaningful question for them to consider.  

Parents/carers can then choose to provide opportunity for worship as appropriate to the 

family setting;  

 learners the opportunity to suggest themes and topics for collective worship assemblies or 

reflection. They might want to take the lead on the focus of the assembly, e.g. recording a 

short video for others, choosing a photograph, and sharing successes. Learners can still 

be at the heart of child-led assemblies;  

 creative and purposeful collective worship assemblies which could be developed by 

exploring some of the key concepts and themes found within the statements of what 

matters in the new Curriculum for Wales 2022. This would give learners the opportunity to 

develop some of the characteristics of the four purposes and, at the same time, give 

longevity to resources that have been created;  

 learners opportunity to be active participants in collective worship assemblies and 

opportunities to respond as part of the collective experience. For example, sending in 

artwork, poetry, or simply communicating their thoughts on the reflection through a 

conversation with their teacher. Hwb networks and chat facilities could be a useful way of 

sharing these responses.  This may be particularly important at this anxious time; 

 to share the experiences of teachers, support staff and learners in school hubs via a pre-

recorded video, photograph, diary, etc... (if appropriate, and if relevant permissions and 

safeguarding procedures are followed); and 

 those who do not have access to digital resources, the provision of a pack of suggested 

reflections via post, so that they still have opportunities for reflection and emotional, social 

and spiritual development plus an opportunity for worship as/if appropriate to the family 

background. This could be based on resources that have already been developed. 

How ever you facilitate collective worship assemblies for distance learning, they needn’t be long 

or complicated. Positive collective worship assembly experiences are inclusive and should be 

suitable for everyone in the school community regardless of faith or belief.  Topics and themes 

need to be approached in a way that is sensitive, supporting the well-being of all children and 

young people, including those in very challenging circumstances.  

Page 46



 

 

Suggested resources 

The table below offers links to a range of collective worship assemblies from which you may 

choose, as appropriate for your particular school setting and your children’s family 

backgrounds. Some are specifically written for schools of a religious character and this should 

be fully considered before deciding on their suitability for sharing with families at home.  

Headteachers are responsible for quality assuring the resources used for collective worship 

assemblies in their schools.  

 

Welsh Medium 

Yn ychwanegol i'r gwasanaethau arferol 
maent wrthi yn creu adnoddau ‘munud i 
feddwl’ byr sy’n ymateb i Covid- 19.  
Mae’n Cristnogol yn ei gwedd, ond wedi 
ei greu i weithio ag unrhyw blentyn dim 
ots ei cefndir ffydd neu ddiwylliant. 

https://cymru.assemblies.org.uk 

Munud i feddwl Cristnogol ei gwedd https://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/p016k10m 
Cymorth Cristnogol – gwasanaethau ar 
gael yn ddwyieithog 

https://www.christianaid.org.uk/get-involved-
locally/wales/cymru 

Gwasanaeth ar gyfer CA2 a 3 https://resources.hwb.wales.gov.uk/VTC/2017/Rocka
ndRollPoet/ca2/gwasanaethau.html 
https://resources.hwb.wales.gov.uk/VTC/2017/Rocka
ndRollPoet/ca3/gwasanaethau.html 

 

 

English Medium 

 

As well as the usual assemblies, 
Assemblies.org are publishing short 
Pause for Thought clips and suggestions 

due to the Covid-19 situation. Christian in 
outlook but designed for use with all 
children regardless of faith or cultural 
background. 
 

https://www.assemblies.org.uk/ 

Bahá’í resources for schools 
 

http://re.bahai.org.uk/assembly-ideas/ 

BBC School Radio Assemblies https://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/p0592r92 (ks1) 
https://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/p00nkdgx (ks2) 

Catholic Agency for Overseas 
Development (CAFOD) 

https://cafod.org.uk/Education/Primary-teaching-
resources/Primary-school-assemblies 

Christian Aid  https://www.christianaid.org.uk/schools/school-
assemblies  
 

Diocese of St Asaph Resources for 
schools, young people and families…and 
those that work with them during the 
corona pandemic. (Church in Wales) 

https://dioceseofstasaph.org.uk/coronavirus/resources-for-
young-people/ 

Page 47

https://cymru.assemblies.org.uk/
https://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/p016k10m
https://www.christianaid.org.uk/get-involved-locally/wales/cymru
https://www.christianaid.org.uk/get-involved-locally/wales/cymru
https://resources.hwb.wales.gov.uk/VTC/2017/RockandRollPoet/ca2/gwasanaethau.html
https://resources.hwb.wales.gov.uk/VTC/2017/RockandRollPoet/ca2/gwasanaethau.html
https://resources.hwb.wales.gov.uk/VTC/2017/RockandRollPoet/ca3/gwasanaethau.html
https://resources.hwb.wales.gov.uk/VTC/2017/RockandRollPoet/ca3/gwasanaethau.html
https://www.assemblies.org.uk/
http://re.bahai.org.uk/assembly-ideas/
https://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/p0592r92
https://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/p00nkdgx
https://cafod.org.uk/Education/Primary-teaching-resources/Primary-school-assemblies
https://cafod.org.uk/Education/Primary-teaching-resources/Primary-school-assemblies
https://www.christianaid.org.uk/schools/school-assemblies
https://www.christianaid.org.uk/schools/school-assemblies
https://dioceseofstasaph.org.uk/coronavirus/resources-for-young-people/
https://dioceseofstasaph.org.uk/coronavirus/resources-for-young-people/


 

 

SBeducation - Diocese of Swansea and 

Brecon Education Twitter (Church in 
Wales) 
 

https://twitter.com/swanbreced 
 

Weekly worship at home resource from 
the Diocese of St Albans Schools Team 
(Church of England) 
 

https://www.stalbans.anglican.org/schools/worship-at-
home/ 

Humanists UK Assemblies for all - 
inclusive and accessible for all schools, 
teachers, and pupils, regardless of their 
religion or belief background. 
 

https://assembliesforall.org.uk/about/ 

Oak National Academy #1 (the National 
Academy set up in England only) 
 

https://youtube.co.uk 

Primary resources – assemblies http://www.primaryresources.co.uk/assembly/assembl
y.htm 

TES free teaching resource for 
assemblies 

https://www.tes.com/teaching-resource/500-values-
assemblies-hundreds-of-free-assemblies-with-
powerpoints-stories-videos-and-quotes-11866521 

Diversity of Religion and Belief A 
guidance and resource pack for primary 
schools in England and Wales - Peter 

Hemming, Elena Hailwood, Connor 
Stokes - see p.29ff 
 

https://orca.cf.ac.uk/110147/19/Diversity%20of%20Re
ligion%20and%20Belief%20-
%20A%20Guidance%20and%20Resource%20Pack
%20for%20Primary%20Schools%20in%20England%
20and%20Wales.pdf 

Unicef – Rights Respecting Schools -
assembly resources 

https://www.unicef.org.uk/rights-respecting-
schools/resources/teaching-resources/guidance-
assemblies-lessons/ 

  

Further Help and Advice 

If Local Authorities or schools need further help or advice on collective worship assemblies, 

please contact Alice Parry, Secretary to WASACRE Alice.Parry@bridgend.gov.uk. Alice will be 

able to put you in contact with advisers or SACREs within your local authority.  

 

 

 

This document has been produced for WASACRE by the following individuals and with 

grateful thanks to their organisations: 

Libby Jones, RE Adviser, Wrexham County Council and St Giles Centre for Religious Education 

Alice Parry, Secretary to WASACRE and Head of Religion, Philosophy & Ethics, Coleg   

   Cymunedol Y Dderwen 

Rachel Samuel, Vice Chair WASACRE and Head of the Welsh Baccalaureate and teacher of 

   RE, Ysgol Gymraeg Ystalyfera Bro Dur 

Elizabeth Thomas, Provincial Director of Education for the Church in Wales 

Gill Vaisey, RE Consultant, Books at Press 

Paula Webber, EAS Professional Learning Adviser (RE and SACRE) 

                                                           

 

©  20/05/2020 Page 48

https://twitter.com/swanbreced
https://www.stalbans.anglican.org/schools/worship-at-home/
https://www.stalbans.anglican.org/schools/worship-at-home/
https://assembliesforall.org.uk/about/
https://youtube.co.uk/
http://www.primaryresources.co.uk/assembly/assembly.htm
http://www.primaryresources.co.uk/assembly/assembly.htm
https://www.tes.com/teaching-resource/500-values-assemblies-hundreds-of-free-assemblies-with-powerpoints-stories-videos-and-quotes-11866521
https://www.tes.com/teaching-resource/500-values-assemblies-hundreds-of-free-assemblies-with-powerpoints-stories-videos-and-quotes-11866521
https://www.tes.com/teaching-resource/500-values-assemblies-hundreds-of-free-assemblies-with-powerpoints-stories-videos-and-quotes-11866521
https://orca.cf.ac.uk/110147/19/Diversity%20of%20Religion%20and%20Belief%20-%20A%20Guidance%20and%20Resource%20Pack%20for%20Primary%20Schools%20in%20England%20and%20Wales.pdf
https://orca.cf.ac.uk/110147/19/Diversity%20of%20Religion%20and%20Belief%20-%20A%20Guidance%20and%20Resource%20Pack%20for%20Primary%20Schools%20in%20England%20and%20Wales.pdf
https://orca.cf.ac.uk/110147/19/Diversity%20of%20Religion%20and%20Belief%20-%20A%20Guidance%20and%20Resource%20Pack%20for%20Primary%20Schools%20in%20England%20and%20Wales.pdf
https://orca.cf.ac.uk/110147/19/Diversity%20of%20Religion%20and%20Belief%20-%20A%20Guidance%20and%20Resource%20Pack%20for%20Primary%20Schools%20in%20England%20and%20Wales.pdf
https://orca.cf.ac.uk/110147/19/Diversity%20of%20Religion%20and%20Belief%20-%20A%20Guidance%20and%20Resource%20Pack%20for%20Primary%20Schools%20in%20England%20and%20Wales.pdf
https://www.unicef.org.uk/rights-respecting-schools/resources/teaching-resources/guidance-assemblies-lessons/
https://www.unicef.org.uk/rights-respecting-schools/resources/teaching-resources/guidance-assemblies-lessons/
https://www.unicef.org.uk/rights-respecting-schools/resources/teaching-resources/guidance-assemblies-lessons/
mailto:Alice.Parry@bridgend.gov.uk


Page 49

Agenda Item 9



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66


	Agenda
	4 Membership Updates
	5 Minutes of Previous Meeting held on 10th March 2020  /  Matters Arising
	6 Annual Report 2019/20 (attached)
	7 Update on plans for examinations in 2021 (Minister's decision attached)
	8a WASACRE personnel update (attached)
	8b Curriculum Updates (attached)
	8c WASACRE advice to Schools on Collective Worship (attached)
	9 Minutes from WASACRE Autumn Meeting and AGM (attached)

